FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/15/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/15/2023 1:48 PM SUPREME COURT NO. 102564-5 COA NO. 84430-0-1

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

MARC VAN SLYKE,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable George F. B. Appel, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANA M. NELSON Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

#

C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT
	1. BECAUSE THIS CASE PRESENTS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST, THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW
	2. BECAUSE THIS CASE PRESENTS SIGNIFICANT QUESTIONS OF LAW UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS, THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW
	3. THIS COURT SHOULD REMAND FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO STRIKE THE \$500 VPA FROM VANSLYKE'S JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE 18
F.	CONCLUSION

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

# WASHINGTON CASES

.

<u>Harris v. Charles</u> 171 Wn.2d 455, 256 P.3d 328 (2011)17
<u>In re Welfare of Hoffer</u> 34 Wn. App. 82, 659 P.2d 1124 (1983)13
<u>State ex rel. McDonald v. Whatcom County Dist. Court</u> 92 Wn.2d 35, 593 P.2d 546 (1979)11
<u>State v. Armendariz</u> 160 Wn.2d 106, 156 P.3d 201 (2007)9
<u>State v. C.G.</u> 150 Wn.2d 604, 80 P.3d 594 (2003)9
<u>State v. Duncan</u> 185 Wn.2d 430, 374 P.3d 83 (2016)19
<u>State v. Franklin</u> 56 Wn. App. 915, 786 P.2d 795 (1989) <u>review denied,</u> 114 Wn.2d 1004 (1990)15
<u>State v. Gaines</u> 121 Wn. App. 687, 90 P.3d 1095 (2004)17
<u>State v. Jackson</u> 61 Wn. App. 86, 809 P.2d 221 (1991)11

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Page

## WASHINGTON CASES

<u>State v. Mathers</u> 193 Wn. App. 913, 376 P.3d 1163 (2016)19
<u>State v. Simmons</u> 152 Wn.2d 450, 98 P.3d 789 (2004)18
<u>State v. Ramirez</u> 191 Wn.2d 732, 426 P.3d 714 (2018)20
<u>State v. Vanslyke</u> Wn. App. 2d, 536 P.3d 1155 (2023)1
<u>State v. Wemhoff</u> 24 Wn. App. 2d 198, 519 P.3d 297 (2022)20
FEDERAL CASES

United States v. Goodwin

457 U.S. 368, 102 S. Ct. 2485, 73 L. Ed. 2d 74 (1982)..16

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

# OTHER AUTHORITIES

•

mer RCW 9.94A.1209	
vs of 2021, ch. 215 § 1703	
vs of 2023, ch. 449 § 1, 4, 2720-21	
P 13.4(b)2, 9, 13-14, 18, 21	
P 18.1722	
W 7.68.03519	
W 9.94A.5059-11	
<i>N</i> 9.95.210(b)4	
<i>N</i> 9A.20.0217	
N 10.99.0507, 9-10, 16	
N 26.50.110	
N 43.43.754119	
Const. amend. XIV17	
sh. Const. art. I, § 1217	

#### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Petitioner Marc Vanslyke asks this Court to review the decision of the court of appeals referred to in section B.

#### B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioner seeks review of the published opinion in <u>State v. Vanslyke,</u> Wn. App. \_\_, 536 P.3d 1155 (2023); COA No. 38853-1-III, filed October 16, 2023. A copy of the slip opinion is attached as an appendix.

#### C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. When a no contact order is issued as a condition of sentence and also recorded as a postconviction no-contact order at the original sentencing hearing and then the convictions are reversed on appeal, must the expiration date for a subsequently entered nocontact order take into account the time the offender was already subject to the order to avoid exceeding the statutory maximum term as statutorily required?

-1-

2. As this is a matter of statutory construction and an issue of first impression, does this case involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. When a no contact order is entered at the original sentencing hearing and then the convictions are reversed on appeal, must the expiration date for a subsequently entered no contact order take into account the time the offender was already subject to the order to avoid violating due process and the right to equal protection?

4. Does this case involve significant questions of law under the state and federal constitutions that should be decided by this Court? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

5. Alternatively, should this Court remand for the trial court to strike the \$500 victim penalty assessment (VPA) from Vanslyke's judgment and sentence?

-2-

## D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 14, 2020, the Snohomish County prosecutor charged appellant Marc Vanslyke with domestic violence felony violation of a no contact order (FVNCO) for allegedly contacting Jolene Washington on May 8, 2020. CP 213-15; RCW 26.50.110(1).<sup>1</sup> The state also alleged Vanslyke prevented Washington from contacting the authorities on that date. <u>Id.</u>; RCW 9A.36.150.

On December 1, 2020, Vanslyke pled guilty to both offenses in exchange for the prosecutor's agreement not to charge him with possessing heroin or drug paraphernalia. CP 133-155. According to the state's charging document, police found what appeared to be

-3-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The state alleged the charge was a felony because Vanslyke had two prior convictions for violating a no contact order. CP 213. The statute RCW 26.50.110 has since been repealed by Laws 2021, ch. 215, section 170, effective July 1, 2022.

heroin in Vanslyke's pocket during a search incident to arrest. CP 207.

At sentencing on May 11, 2021, the court sentenced Vanslyke to the statutory maximum of 60 months (also the standard range) on the felony. CP 187-205. For the gross misdemeanor, the court sentenced Vanslyke to 364 days suspended on condition Vanslyke complete 60 months of probation. CP 182; RCW 9.95.210(b) (allowing five-year suspension for "dv" offenses).

As a condition of the judgment and sentence for the FVNCO, the court indicated "A separate post-conviction domestic violence no contact order, . . . is filed contemporaneously with this judgment and sentence." CP 196. The post-conviction domestic violence no contact order entered on May 11, 2021, indicated it shall expire "5 years from today's date if no date is entered." CP 130-32. Because no date was entered, the order was set to expire May 11, 2026. Id.

-4**-**

On his initial appeal, Division One held Vanslyke was not informed of an essential element of the FVNCO and remanded to the trial court to allow Vanslyke to withdraw both pleas as they were part of a package deal. CP 152-54. The mandate entered on February 4, 2022. Id.

On March 7, 2022, Vanslyke withdrew his pleas and the case proceeded to trial on an amended information. CP 129; 149-51. On July 20, 2022, a jury convicted Vanslyke of violating the no contact order but acquitted him of interfering with a 911 call. CP 77-79.

Sentencing occurred on August 9, 2022. The court imposed the statutory maximum of 60 months of incarceration (also the standard range). CP 27. As part of the judgment and sentence, the court ordered Vanslyke shall have no contact with Jolene Washington until August 9, 2027. CP 31.

-5-

Contemporaneously with the judgment and sentence, the court entered a post-conviction domestic violence no contact order. CP 126-128. The expiration date is indicated as "5 years from today's date," <u>i.e.</u> August 9, 2027. <u>Id.</u>

On appeal, Vanslyke argued the no contact order expiration date was not authorized because it exceeded the statutory maximum of five years. In other words, as a result his successful appeal of and subsequent resentencing, Vanslyke will ultimately serve five years plus a little over ten months subject to the order (because of the five years from the date of resentencing plus the 10+ months he was already subject to it prior to withdrawing his pleas). Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 7-18. Vanslyke also argued that failing to take into account the time he already served subject to the order in setting the expiration date violated his right to due process and equal protection. BOA at 18-23.

-6-

In a published opinion, the court of appeals rejected Vanslyke's arguments. Appendix at 3. Regarding Vanslyke's statutory interpretation argument, the court held:

The plain language of RCW 10.99.050 resolves the issue presented here. It unambiguously states, without gualification, that a NCO issued as a condition of a felony sentence "remains in effect for a fixed period of time determined by the court, which may not exceed the adult maximum sentence established in RCW 9A.20.021. RCW 10.99.050(2)(d). Vanslyke was convicted of a class C felony, which carries a maximum sentence of five years. RCW 9A.20.021(1)(c). Therefore, RCW 10.99.050 authorized the sentencing court to impose an NCO lasting up to five years for Vanslyke's offense. The trial court's NCO issued as a condition of Vanslyke's sentence did not exceed that statutory limit.

Appendix at 3-4.

Regarding Vanslyke's due process argument, the court held the no contact order does not constitute a "penalty" or "punishment" and therefore the increased time for the no contact order is not problematic. Appendix

at 5.

Regarding Vanslyke's equal protection argument,

the court held:

Upon remand, Vanslyke was treated the same as any other defendant who never appealed. He was recharged, tried by a jury, convicted, and resentenced. The duration of the trial court's new sentencing conditions and NCO are relevant to maintaining the court's objective that Vanslyke not contact the victim throughout his entire sentence of incarceration. Therefore, we decline to find an equal protection violation.

Appendix at 11.

- E. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT
  - 1. BECAUSE THIS CASE PRESENTS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST, THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW.

This case presents an issue of statutory interpretation and one of first impression – whether the five-year-no-contact-order imposed on Vanslyke exceeds the statutory maximum because it doesn't take into account the time he already served subject to the order before his conviction was reversed on appeal. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The meaning of a statute is a question of law the court reviews de novo. <u>State v. C.G.</u>, 150 Wn.2d 604, 608, 80 P.3d 594 (2003). The court's goal is to determine the legislature's intent and carry it out. <u>Id.</u> If a statute's meaning is plain, then the court must give effect to the plain meaning as expressing what the legislature intended. <u>Id.</u>

Resolution of the issue raised herein involves the statutory interpretation of RCW 9.94A.505(9) and RCW 10.99.050. Under RCW 9.94A.505(9), as part of any sentence, the court may impose and enforce crime-related prohibitions and affirmative conditions, including prohibition on contact. In <u>State v. Armendariz</u>, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007), this Court noted this provision was rooted in former RCW 9.94A.120 and the

-9-

no contact order provided thereunder was not to exceed the maximum allowable sentence for the crime. In other words, it was tied to the sentence.

Similarly, under RCW 10.99.050, when the judgment and sentence restricts contact, the court should enter a separate no contact order subjecting the offender to criminal liability for its violation but again, not to exceed the adult maximum sentence.

The statutory maximum for Vanslyke's offense is five years. Thus, the no contact order entered in his case by law cannot exceed five years. Appendix at 3-4. Now, neither RCW 9.94A.505 or 10.99.050 indicate how that five years is calculated but it is logical to read that as five years total. Thus, regardless of when it "begins to run," Vanslyke can be subject to it for five years total – the statutory maximum.

It doesn't make sense to read it as five years running from the date of any resentencing because that is

-10-

not how the statutory maximum is calculated for other conditions of sentence, or community custody. <u>See e.g.</u> RCW 9.94A.505(6). Why would the legislature have a different intent for no contact orders as opposed to any other condition of sentence? It does not make sense.

Under the rule of lenity, the Court must interpret an ambiguous statute in the defendant's favor unless it would lead to absurd consequences. <u>State ex rel. McDonald v.</u> <u>Whatcom County Dist. Court</u>, 92 Wn.2d 35, 37-38, 593 P.2d 546 (1979). The rule of lenity requires "any ambiguity in a statute must be resolved in favor of the defendant"; <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 61 Wn. App. 86, 93, 809 P.2d 221 (1991) ("The policy behind the rule of lenity is to place the burden squarely on the legislature to clearly and unequivocally warn people of the actions that expose them to liability for penalties and what those penalties are").

-11-

Here, it is the Court of Appeals interpretation that leads to absurd consequences. For instance, consider the situation where a person is convicted of a class C felony and after serving the entire five-year maximum sentence with its attendant post-conviction no-contact order, and the person's conviction is reversed on appeal. The defendant is then retried and sentenced again to the five-year statutory maximum with the attendant no contact order. Despite having already served the entire statutory maximum sentence as part of the first sentence, under the appellate court's reading of the statute, the no contact order would remain in place for another five years. Even though there is no underlying sentence to serve.

But the result becomes even more absurd taken a step further. Suppose the conviction is reversed on appeal again and once again the defendant is retried, reconvicted and resentenced. Again, the state's interpretation would allow the no contact order to go on

-12-

for yet another five years. Despite the underlying sentence having been served and expired twice over.

That cannot be what the legislature intended. It is black letter law "Statutes should receive a sensible construction which will effect the legislative intent and avoid unjust or absurd consequences. <u>In re Welfare of</u> Hoffer, 34 Wn. App. 82, 84, 659 P.2d 1124 (1983).

Here the legislature intended to protect the victim from contact for up to the statutory maximum of the underlying conviction and sentence. That requires reading the period of no contact as a whole, not separately for each new resentencing. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

> 2. BECAUSE THIS CASE PRESENTS SIGNIFICANT QUESTIONS OF LAW UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS, THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW.

The appellate court erred in holding the imposition of the five-year no contact order – without taking into

-13-

account the time Vanslyke spent already subject to it – is not violative of his due process or equal protection rights. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

As a matter of due process, a defendant cannot be penalized for exercising the right to appeal. <u>North</u> <u>Carolina v. Pearce</u>, 395 U.S. 711, 723-24, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L. Ed. 2d 656 (1969), <u>overruled on other</u> <u>grounds, Alabama v. Smith</u>, 490 U.S. 794, 104 L. Ed. 2d 865, 873, 109 S. Ct. 2201 (1989). If Vanslyke were subject to an increased no contact period following his successful appeal, he would be penalized for winning his appeal. Consistent with due process, the length of a no-contact order cannot be increased simply because Vanslyke got his convictions reversed on appeal and then was retried and resentenced.

Imposition of a more severe sentence following a successful appeal raises a rebuttable presumption of judicial vindictiveness. <u>Pearce</u>, 395 U.S. at 726; <u>State v.</u>

-14-

Franklin, 56 Wn. App. 915, 920, 786 P.2d 795 (1989), review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1004 (1990). By imposing a period of no contact following Vanslyke's longer successful appeal, the trial court presumptively acted out of vindictiveness towards Vanslyke at the resentencing hearing. A more severe sentence after a new trial can only be imposed consistent with due process where the reasons for doing so affirmatively appear in the record and are based upon objective information concerning identifiable conduct on the part of the defendant occurring after the time of the original sentencing proceeding. Pearce, 395 U.S. at 726. There is nothing like that in the record here. Vanslyke's due process rights were therefore violated by entry of a no contact condition and order extending the expiration date.

The appellate court's reliance on *non* due-process case law to find no constitutional violation here was erroneous. <u>See</u> Appendix at 6.

-15-

An increased penalty in the due process context is any "action detrimental to the defendant." <u>United States</u> <u>v. Goodwin</u>, 457 U.S. 368, 373, 102 S. Ct. 2485, 73 L. Ed. 2d 74 (1982). Imposing another five-year no contact order without credit for the first is an action detrimental taken after a successful appeal. It subjects Vanslyke to a longer period of jeopardy for violating the order.

Vanslyke is subject to a longer total term of restriction and subject to being arrested, thrown in jail and ultimately convicted of a separate offense with its own term of confinement in the event he violates the no contact condition/order. RCW 10.99.050(2)(a). The actual effect – the detrimental impact – of the new sentence is to subject Vanslyke to a longer prohibition on contact that he would be subject to had he not appealed. Vanslyke is being penalized for appealing because he is exposed to criminal liability for a longer period of time. This is a due process violation because there are no new

-16-

facts to justify the increased sentence. The only thing that changed between the first sentence and the second sentence was the appeal that resulted in a trial rather than a plea.

Subjecting Vanslyke to a longer period of no contact following his successful appeal would also violate the constitutional right to equal protection. "Equal protection requires that similarly situated individuals receive similar treatment under the law." Harris v. Charles, 171 Wn.2d 455, 462, 256 P.3d 328 (2011); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 12. "A valid law, administered in a manner that unjustly discriminates between similarly situated persons, violates equal protection." State v. Gaines, 121 Wn. App. 687, 705, 90 P.3d 1095 (2004). Under rational basis review, the application of a law violates equal protection principles where "the law is irrelevant to maintaining a state objective" or "creates an arbitrary classification." Harris, 171 Wn.2d at 463 (quoting

-17-

<u>State v. Simmons</u>, 152 Wn.2d 450, 458, 98 P.3d 789 (2004)).

Vanslyke is similarly situated to those who commit domestic violence crimes in all relevant respects. There cannot be one maximum expiration date for the no contact order for those who do not appeal or who lose their appeal and another maximum expiration date for those who win their appeal and are ultimately resentenced on remand. That disparity has no relation to any legitimate government objective and creates arbitrary classifications. For these reasons, this Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. THIS COURT SHOULD REMAND FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO STRIKE THE \$500 VPA FROM VANSLYKE'S JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE.

Finally, even if this Court does not grant review on the statutory interpretation argument, Vanslyke respectfully requests that this Court remand for the \$500 VPA to be stricken from his judgment and sentence. At sentencing, the trial court imposed only the \$500 VPA and stated, "I'm going to waive every other thing that I can." RP 24 (8/9/22). Vanslyke was represented by court-appointed counsel at trial, and the trial court found him indigent for purposes of this appeal. CP 1-2.

At the time of Vanslyke's sentencing, RCW 7.68.035(1)(a) mandated a \$500 penalty assessment "[w]hen any person is found guilty in any superior court of having committed a crime," except for some motor vehicle crimes. RCW 43.43.7541 similarly mandated a \$100 DNA collection fee "unless the state has previously collected the offender's DNA as a result of a prior conviction." Both fees were mandatory regardless of the defendant's indigency or inability to pay. State v. Duncan, 185 Wn.2d 430, 436 n.3, 374 P.3d 83 (2016); State v. Mathers, 193 Wn. App. 913, 918-21, 376 P.3d 1163 (2016).

-19-

In April of 2023, however, the legislature passed Engrossed Substitute House Bill 1169, amending RCW 7.68.035. The amendment provides, "The court shall not impose the penalty assessment under this section if the court finds that the defendant, at the time of sentencing, is indigent" as defined in RCW 10.101.010(3). Laws of 2023, ch. 449, § 1. The new law also eliminates the \$100 DNA collection fee for all defendants. Laws of 2023, ch. 449, § 4. These amendments took effect on July 1, 2023. Laws of 2023, ch. 449, § 27.

Under this Court's decision in <u>State v. Ramirez</u>, 191 Wn.2d 732, 748-49, 426 P.3d 714 (2018), and the court of appeals' decision in <u>State v. Wemhoff</u>, 24 Wn. App. 2d 198, 201-02, 519 P.3d 297 (2022), costs of litigation are not final until the termination of all appeals. Amendments to cost statutes therefore apply prospectively to cases like Vanslyke's that are still pending on appeal. <u>Wemhoff</u>, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 201-02. Because the \$500 VPA is not final

-20-

until the termination of Vanslyke's appeal, he is entitled to the benefit of the legislative amendments.

Vanslyke recognizes the late hour of this request, but notes that the bill was not signed into law until May 15, 2023, after Vanslyke filed his opening brief in the court of appeals. Laws of 2023, ch. 449. He is therefore raising this issue now. And, while the amendments allow for individuals to make a motion in the trial court, Vanslyke would have to do so without counsel. Since this Court will assess whether or not to accept review of Vanslyke's case, it would be efficient for this Court to also address the \$500 VPA.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

This case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be resolved by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). It also involves significant questions of law under the state and federal constitutions. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

-21-

If this Court declines to accept review, this Court should remand to the trial court to strike the \$500 VPA.

This document contains 3,152 words in 14-point font, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

Dated this 15<sup>th</sup> day of November, 2023.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC

Dana My Mhm

DANA M. NELSON, WSBA 28239 Attorneys for Petitioner

FILED 10/16/2023 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

MARC RICHARD VANSLYKE,

Appellant.

No. 84430-0-I

**DIVISION ONE** 

PUBLISHED OPINION

FELDMAN, J. — Marc Richard Vanslyke appeals the no-contact condition of his judgment and sentence and the no-contact order (NCO) issued in connection therewith. Vanslyke claims that the trial court was required to reduce the duration of the no-contact condition and NCO by the amount of time that he was subject to a prior no-contact condition and NCO for the same offense and that his trial attorney was ineffective by failing to properly argue this issue below. Finding no statutory or constitutional error, we affirm.

L

On January 18, 2018, the Lynwood Municipal Court issued an order prohibiting Vanslyke from contacting Jolene Washington until January 18, 2024. On May 8, 2020, police officers responding to a 911 hang-up call from Washington's apartment found her in the apartment and Vanslyke on the neighbor's balcony. The State charged Vanslyke with (1) felony violation of a court order – domestic violence<sup>1</sup> and (2) gross misdemeanor interfering with domestic violence reporting.

Vanslyke pleaded guilty to both counts. On May 11, 2021, the trial court sentenced Vanslyke to 60 months of incarceration on the class C felony count and imposed 364 days of confinement on the gross misdemeanor count but suspended that sentence. As a condition of the sentence, the court ordered Vanslyke not to contact Washington. It also issued a separate post-conviction NCO that expired five years from the date of sentencing.

On January 31, 2022, this court held that Vanslyke's plea was constitutionally invalid because the charging language failed to apprise him of an essential element of a willful violation of a court order. *State v. Vanslyke*, No. 82651-4-I, slip op. at 1 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 31, 2022) (unpublished), http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/826514.pdf (citing *State v. Briggs*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 544, 550, 553, 492 P.3d 218 (2021)). This court remanded the matter to the trial court to allow Vanslyke to withdraw his guilty pleas, which he did. *Id*.

Following a jury trial, Vanslyke was found guilty of the felony count but not guilty of the gross misdemeanor count. At the resentencing hearing on August 9, 2022, the trial court again sentenced Vanslyke to 60 months of incarceration and, as a condition of the sentence, prohibited him from contacting Washington until August 9, 2027. The court also issued a separate post-conviction NCO that likewise expired "5 years from today's date." Vanslyke appeals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The statute under which Vanslyke was charged, RCW 26.50.110, has since been repealed. LAWS OF 2021, ch. 215, § 170 (eff. July 1, 2022).

Ш

#### A. Statutory Interpretation

Vanslyke argues that the duration of the no-contact sentencing condition and NCO imposed at his resentencing hearing exceed the maximum length permitted by RCW 10.99.050 because the trial court failed to credit him with the time he was subject to the no-contact sentencing condition and NCO imposed at his initial sentencing hearing. We disagree.

We review a trial court's sentence with deference and will only reverse a sentence based on a "clear abuse of discretion or misapplication of the law." *State v. Elliott*, 114 Wn.2d 6, 17, 785 P.2d 440 (1990). Here, Vanslyke's sentencing arguments require us to interpret RCW 10.99.050. "The goal of statutory interpretation is to discern and implement the legislature's intent." *State v. Armendariz*, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007). "If the legislature's intent is clear based on the plain language of the statute, 'then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *State v. Granath*, 190 Wn.2d 548, 552, 415 P.3d 1179 (2018) (quoting *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)). Statutory interpretation is a legal issue, which we review de novo. *State v. Landsiedel*, 165 Wn. App. 886, 889, 269 P.3d 347 (2012).

The plain language of RCW 10.99.050 resolves the issue presented here. It unambiguously states, without qualification, that an NCO issued as a condition of a felony sentence "remains in effect for a fixed period of time determined by the court, which may not exceed the adult maximum sentence established in RCW 9A.20.021." RCW 10.99.050(2)(d). Vanslyke was convicted of a class C felony,

which carries a maximum sentence of five years. RCW 9A.20.021(1)(c). Therefore, RCW 10.99.050 authorized the sentencing court to impose an NCO lasting up to five years for Vanslyke's offense. The trial court's NCO issued as a condition of Vanslyke's sentence did not exceed that statutory limit.

Moreover, the legislature knows how to provide defendants with credit for court-imposed restrictions, and it did not do so here. For example, RCW 9.94A.505(6) provides, "The sentencing court shall give the offender credit for all confinement time served before the sentencing if that confinement was solely in regard to the offense for which the offender is being sentenced." Additionally, RCW 9.94A.680(3) states, "For offenders convicted of nonviolent and nonsex offenses, the court may credit time served by the offender before the sentencing in an available county supervised community option . . . ." Had the legislature intended to provide a statutory basis to credit defendants with time they were previously prohibited from contacting a person, it would have used similar language in RCW 10.99.050. It did not, and its use of different language is legally significant. *See Samish Indian Nation v. Dep't of Licensing*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 437, 442, 471 P.3d 261 (2020) ("When the legislature intended a different language in the same statute, courts presume the legislature intended a different meaning.").

Despite the clear language of the statute, Vanslyke urges us to apply the rule of lenity to construe RCW 10.99.050 in his favor. But courts may apply the rule of lenity only where a statute is ambiguous such that "it is subject to two or more reasonable interpretations." *State v. McGee*, 122 Wn.2d 783, 787, 864 P.2d 912 (1993). RCW 10.99.050 is subject to only one reasonable interpretation: the sentencing court could properly impose an NCO lasting up to five years from the

date of sentencing. Vanslyke offers no authority supporting any legislative intent to credit defendants with time they were previously subject to NCOs for the same offense. We therefore assume no such intent exists. *See State v. Loos*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 748, 758, 473 P.3d 1229 (2020) ("When a party provides no citation to support an argument, this court will assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none."). In sum, because the trial court did not prohibit Vanslyke from contacting the victim for longer than the maximum duration prescribed in RCW 10.99.050, it did not abuse its discretion in setting the duration of the sentencing condition or NCO.

B. Due Process

"[T]he 'imposition of a penalty upon the defendant for having successfully pursued a statutory right of appeal or collateral remedy is a violation of due process of law." *State v. Brown*, 193 Wn.2d 280, 288, 440 P.3d 962 (2019) (quoting *North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 724, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L. Ed. 2d 656 (1969)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Vanslyke argues that the trial court penalized him for exercising his right to appeal in violation of due process because, by not crediting him with the time he was subject to the initial sentencing condition and NCO during the pendency of his first appeal, the court effectively imposed a longer period of no-contact following his successful appeal. This argument fails because a no-contact restriction is not a "penalty"—nor is it "punitive"—for due process purposes. As a result, due process does not require that Vanslyke receive credit for the time that he was subject to the previous sentencing condition and NCO for the same offense.

Our constitutional analysis in *In re Personal Restraint of Arseneau*, 98 Wn. App. 368, 370-71, 989 P.2d 1197 (1999), is controlling here. In *Arseneau*, the Department of Corrections prohibited Arseneau from contacting a family member who was not the victim of the offense for which he was sentenced. The defendant argued the restriction violated the constitutional prohibitions on double jeopardy and ex post facto punishments. *Id.* at 379.<sup>2</sup> In determining whether the government's action was sufficiently "punitive" to warrant constitutional scrutiny, we first considered the relevant legislative purpose. *Id.* We then examined the effect of the governmental action as measured by the following seven factors:

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