FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/2/2024 11:40 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102564-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

MARC RICHARD VANSLYKE,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JASON J. CUMMINGS Prosecuting Attorney

AMANDA F. CAMPBELL Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are correctly set out in the Court of Appeals opinion.

In its opinion affirming the petitioner's convictions, the Court of Appeals held the plain language of RCW 10.99.050 unambiguously states that a no contact order issued as a condition of a felony sentence may not exceed the adult maximum sentence and, as Vanslyke's maximum sentence was five years, the no contact order for a term of five years did not exceed the statutory limit. Slip Op. at 3–4. The Court explained the legislature "knows how to provide defendants with credit for court-imposed restrictions, and it did not do so here." <u>Id.</u> at 4.

The Court of Appeals further held the no contact order was not a penalty and, therefore, due process did not

require that he receive credit for the time he was subject to the previous sentencing condition and no contact order for the same offense. Slip Op. at 5–8. The Court of Appeals held Vanslyke had not established the trial court acted with actual vindictiveness, as required. <u>Id.</u> at 9.

Finally, the Court of Appeals held Vanslyke had not proven an equal protection violation as he was treated the same as any other defendant who had not appealed. <u>Id.</u> at 11. The Court of Appeals concluded Vanslyke's trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise these issues. <u>Id.</u>

III. ARGUMENT

The petitioner argues this matter involves an issue of substantial public interest and a significant constitutional question. He also asks this Court to remand the matter to strike the Victim Penalty Assessment.

A. THE PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THIS MATTER INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

The Court of Appeals held the plain language of RCW 10.99.050 resolves the issue presented in the defendant's case. Slip Op. at 3. The defendant makes the same claim here as he did in the Court of Appeals, that interpreting the statute in this way—allowing the trial court to impose a five-year no contact order upon resentencing—leads to absurd consequences because a victim might be protected for more than the five-year statutory maximum.

The defendant, without citation to authority, treats two separate no contact orders as one order. He argues, for example, that he can only be subject to "it"—the no contact order—for five years total. Petition for Review at 10. However, the defendant was never subject to a no contact order that exceeded five years. He cites no authority that requires or even allows a court to combine

the terms of two separate orders in determining whether a no contact order exceeds the statutory maximum term. The two post-conviction no contact orders at issue here were signed at separate proceedings more than a year apart. Slip Op. at 2. The second order did not exceed the statutory limit. Id.

Further, as the Court of Appeals explained, "the legislature knows how to provide defendants with credit for court-imposed restrictions, and it did not do so here." Slip Op. at 4. The defendant argues the legislature could not have intended for no contact orders, when their terms were added together, to exceed the statutory maximum term. However, the legislature's choice to use different language than it used when providing defendants with credit for time served shows the legislature intended what occurred in this case. See Samish Indian Nation v. Dep't of Licensing, 14 Wn. App. 2d 437, 442, 471 P.3d 261 (2020) ("When the legislature uses different language in the same statute,

courts presume the legislature intended a different meaning.").

Thus, as a plain reading of the statute determines this issue clearly and the defendant does not cite any authority for a key premise of his argument, the defendant's claim does not raise an issue of substantial public interest.

B. THE PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THIS MATTER INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION AS HE HAS NOT SUFFERED A DUE PROCESS VIOLATION.

The defendant argues he was penalized for exercising his right to appeal. Petition for Review at 14. He fails to address the Court of Appeals' analysis as to whether no contact orders are punitive.

The Court concluded no contact orders are not punitive, citing to In re Personal Restraint of Arseneau, 98 Wn. App. 368, 370-71, 989 P.2d 1197 (1999) and State v. Felix, 125 Wn. App. 575, 578-79, 105 P.3d 427 (2005). The defendant does not address either case or the reasoning

therein, instead citing U.S. v. Goodwin, 457 U.S. 368, 373, 102 S. Ct. 2485, 73 L. Ed. 2d 74 (1982). The Court of Appeals explained, "Vanslyke's reliance on Goodwin is misplaced. The United States Supreme Court there addressed prosecutorial vindictiveness, not whether a court-imposed restriction short of confinement is a 'penalty." Slip Op. at 9. The Court concluded, "Properly construed, Goodwin supports our conclusion that not every governmental action 'detrimental to the defendant . . . after the exercise of a legal right' constitutes a penalty for due process purposes." Slip Op. at 10. The defendant does not address this distinction in his briefing, merely citing to Goodwin without explaining how the Court of Appeals erred in distinguishing that case from his. Petition for Review at 16.

No contact orders are not punitive for the reasons stated in the Court of Appeals opinion. Thus, there was not

a Due Process violation when the trial court imposed a fiveyear no contact order.

C. THE PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THIS MATTER INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION AS HE HAS NOT SUFFERED AN EQUAL PROTECTION VIOLATION.

The defendant argues the no contact order violates his right to equal protection because he was treated differently than similarly situated defendants who did not appeal. Petition for Review at 17.

As the Court of Appeals explained, the defendant was treated the same as any other defendant who was sentenced following trial. The trial court imposed a no contact order that did not exceed the statutory maximum term. Again, the defendant cites no authority for his contention that the terms of two separate no contact orders should be added together for a legal determination as to whether their total length exceeds the statutory maximum term.

Therefore, there is no significant constitutional question at issue.

D. THE STATE AGREES THE COURT MAY REMAND THE MATTER TO THE TRIAL COURT TO STRIKE THE VICTIM PENALTY ASSESSMENT.

As the matter is on direct appeal, the State agrees it may be remanded to the trial court to strike the Victim Penalty Assessment, which was imposed prior to the legislative change, as the defendant notes in his petition.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Petition for Review should be denied.

This brief contains 1119 words (exclusive of appendices, title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, certificate of service, signature blocks, and pictorial images).